FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/20/2020 12:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/21/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98927-3

NO. 53373-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PHYLLIS FARRELL, and individual; BRANDY KNIGHT, an individual; DEBRA JAQUA, an individual; LONI JEAN RONNEBAUM, an individual; SARAH SEGALL, an individual,

Respondents,

v.

FRIENDS OF JIMMY, a registered political committee; WE WANT TO BE FRIENDS OF JIMMY, TOO, a registered political committee; GLEN MORGAN and JANE DOE MORGAN, and the marital community comprised thereof;

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorney for Petitioners

A. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioners FRIENDS OF JIMMY, a registered political committee; WE WANT TO BE FRIENDS OF JIMMY, TOO, a registered political committee; GLEN MORGAN and JANE DOE MORGAN, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision entered on July 21, 2020 pursuant to RAP 13.4.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioners seek review of Division Two's determination that

Petitioners' conduct occurred in "trade or commerce" as well as the legal
conclusion that Respondents' were injured in their "business or property"
as required for liability under the Consumer Protections Act¹ (CPA).

Petitioners further asserts error with the trial court's award of attorney's
fees and its determination that Petitioners failed to preserve his claim and
its determination that Petitioners failed to argue the issue of injury before
the trial court. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

C. Issues Presented for Review

This case presents squarely a question of first impression as to the extent of conduct that is actionable under the CPA. The first question presented is whether the Act envisages liability for conduct occasioned during entirely political interactions. The second question is whether the mere receipt of an unsolicited phone call is an injury to "business or

-

¹ Chapter 19.86 RCW.

property" as required by the Act. Third, if the Court finds that Petitioners are not liable, the Court must conclude that the award of attorney's fees was likewise in error.

D. Statement of the Case

Petitioner Glen Morgan is a political activist who directed the operations of the Petitioner Political Action Committees, "Friends of Jimmy" and "We Want To Be Friends of Jimmy, Too". CP at 177-178, 188. During the 2016 election season on behalf of the two PAC's, Mr. Morgan sought out the services of Dialing Services, LLC a New Mexico corporation that provides bulk automated call services. Dialing Services is not now nor has ever been a party to this litigation.

Mr. Morgan contracted with Dialing Services to make automated phone calls on the Petitioners' behalf on five separate dates in during the fall election season of 2016. CP at 194. The calls were to various potential voters in Thurston County including Respondents. Dialing Services at all times assured Mr. Morgan that it would scrub the list for cells and that Dialing Services "will never dial a cell phone on our robodialers." CP at 259, 266.

There is no dispute that the calls scripted by Mr. Morgan were political in nature and that such variously urged voters to not vote for Jim Cooper a then-candidate for Thurston County Council who identified as a Democrat. CP 354-355.

Below, a chart identifies a transcript of what was communicated in each call:

Date (2016)	Call Description	Transcribed Script
Oct. 21	"JimCooperTrumpCall"	Why does Democrat Commissioner Candidate, Jim Cooper, treat woman like Donald Trump does? This is Karen Rogers, former Olympia City Council Woman. Several complaints were filed against Cooper for employee mistreatment and one female employee even quit because of his behavior. Jim Cooper even used his political influence to get a gag order against the woman to prevent them from talking. County Commissioner is an important position that oversees hundreds of workers. I will not vote for Cooper because I don't want him treating the County workers the way he treated woman at [inaudible]. Protect Thurston County employees; do not vote for Jim Cooper. [7 second pause] Paid for by Friends of Jimmy. Top contributor, we want to be Friends with Jimmy too.
Oct. 24	"RejectHateCalCooperHulseJ ZKn"	Why did Democrat Commissioner Candidates, Jim Cooper and Kelsey Hulse, accept campaign support from a racist cult leader? According to NPR Radio, J.Z. Knight said "Mexican's breed like rabbits, they're poison." Knight has contributed \$80,000 to Cooper and Hulse's campaigns, breaking records for contribution. Democratic groups have rejected hate money; but, Cooper and Hulse keep it all. They even defended these comments to the Olympians. Please demand that Jim Cooper and Hulse get out of the gutter and reject hate money

		[7 second pause]
		Paid for by friends of Jimmy. Top contributor, we want to be friends with Jimmy too.
Oct. 31	"FinalThurstonRobocall"	According to the Olympians, Democratic Commissioner candidate, Jim Cooper, refuses to talk about why he was terminated from a local non-profit. This is Karen Rogers, former Olympia City council member. I served with Cooper and I know how he mistreats people. Several employees that worked under Cooper filed complaints against him for his behavior and the entire staff threatened to walk out unless he was fired. He was later fired unanimously by the Board. Cooper can't be trusted with managing employees and you shouldn't trust him to manage Thurston County. [9 second pause] No candidate authorized this ad. Paid for by Friends of Jimmy. Top sponsor, We want to be friends with Jimmy, Too.

		Hi, I'm Glenn Morgan. The Democrat Party has always opposed racism and violence in politics. That is why the Washington State Democratic Party divested itself from racist cult cash from J.Z. Knight in 2012. However, some have
Nov. 4	"CalltoArmsforDemsFINAL"	tried to turn the Party away from its principals. In Thurston County, the Party is funded by the same racist cult cash J.Z. Knight our State Party rejected. In Thurston County, Democratic Party officials have even made death threats. We are better than this. Call the State Party at this number and tell them to reject J.Z. Knight's racist cult cash and

		violence. Make your voice heard and keep the Party principals pure. [3 second pause] Paid for by friends of Jimmy. Top contributor, we want to be friends with Jimmy too.
Nov. 7	"FINALBIGONEROBOCALLGL"	This is Glenn Morgan again. The message the State Democrat Party doesn't want you to hear is I believe the State Party is not racist, which is why in 2012, divested \$60,000 from J.Z. Night, a cult leader, who made racist speeches about Mexicans, Jews, and others. But the Thurston County Democrats took \$150,000 from the same racist cult leader and will not reject her racist words. Please tell the Thurston Democrats to refute racism and not allow itself to be funded by it. [7 second pause] Paid for by friends of Jimmy. Top contributor, we want to be friends with Jimmy too.

CP 354-355.

Dialing Services, at the request of Mr. Morgan, engineered the calls to variously display as the originating numbers, the phone numbers of the Thurston County Democratic Party Headquarters, The Washington State Democratic Party, the Cooper Campaign and a return number owned and operated by Appellant. CP 155-156. Indeed, one of the calls explicitly asked the recipient to "Call the State Party <u>at this number</u>" in order to relay their concerns about the suitability of Cooper's candidacy. CP at 355.

Respondents initiated suit against Petitioner alleging that the phone calls violated the federal Telephone Consumer Protection Act 42 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A) as calls to cellular phones were allegedly violative of the statue and that by falsely implying that the numbers originated from local and state Democratic Party such calls violated the TCPA. CP 185-197. Respondents also alleged that the calls violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act as the calls were unfair and deceptive "including that the spoofed caller ID numbers and the substance of the pre-recorded messages were likely to mislead reasonable persons." CP at 195. And that Respondents were "injured in their business or property by Defendant's unfair and deceptive practices." Id.

The trial court heard oral argument on February 15, 2019 and issued a ruling from the bench granting Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment and a subsequent written order on Respondents' WCPA claim. See RP 2/15/19² Vol.1 at 1 (Oral Ruling) and CP at 671 (Written Order).

Subsequently, on March 22, 2019 the trial court ordered fees and costs and entered a judgment in favor of Respondents of totaling \$121,501.01. RP 3/22/19 at 34-37. CP at 1090-1093 (Order on Fees), CP at 1140-1142 (Final Judgment and Judgment Summary). This award was comprised of a "Principal Amount of \$13,000", "prejudgment interest of

6

-

² To avoid confusion because of multiple transcripts identified as "Volume 1" and "Volume 2", Petitioner has designated the Report of Proceedings by the hearing date.

\$2,337.33", "costs of \$3,347.84", and "attorney's fees of \$102,815.84". CP at 1140-1142. Neither the trial court's oral ruling subsequent written determinations allocate which portion of the principal, fees or cost were attributable to which of the two causes of actions. RP 3/22/19 at 34-37. CP at 1090-1093, CP at 1140-1142.

Petitioners did not contend error in the trial court's determination with respect to liability for the TCPA claim, rather Petitioners asserted error in the trial court's finding of liability pursuant to the CPA claim as well as the award of penalties, fees, costs and interest, associated with that claim.

Division Two rejected Petitioners' arguments and held that Petitioner's "phone calls occurred in trade or commerce". Appendix A at 2. Citing *Stephens v. Omni Ins. Co.*, 138 Wn. App. 151, 160, 163, 159 P.3d 10 (Div. I, 2007), Division Two concluded that the CPA violation may occur even without a consumer of business relationship between a plaintiff and a defendant. Id. at 5. And that "[Petitioner's] meet the trade or commerce element based on [their] purchase and use of Dialing Services' automated call platform which affected the people of Washington." Id. at 6.

Division Two declined to reach the issue of whether or not Respondents had suffered an injury finding that Respondents had conceded the "argument by failing to contest the injury element during the trial court proceedings below. Id at 7.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

This Court should accept review because if let stand, Division Two's interpretation of the extent of the CPA will usher in the limitless application of the CPA to a universe of conduct outside what is "trade" or "commerce". This Court should take this opportunity to provide guidance as to the extent that the CPA is applicable and confirm that the Act is not a catch-all that provides a right of action in non-commercial settings.

To establish a CPA violation, the plaintiff must prove five elements: (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice that (2) occurs in trade or commerce, (3) impacts the public interest, (4) and causes injury to the plaintiff in her business or property, and (5) the injury is causally linked to the unfair or deceptive act." *Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy*, 200 P.3d 695, 698-699 (2009). "A plaintiff alleging injury under the CPA must establish all five elements." *Id.* at 699.

The terms "trade" and "commerce" are explicitly defined to "include the sale of assets or services, and any commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of the state of Washington." RCW 19.86.010. Because Respondents' calls were purely political in nature and devoid of any economic characteristic that would bring such into the requisite economic purview of the CPA, the trial court erred when it determined that Respondents' conduct violated the CPA.

The purpose of the CPA is to "protect the public and foster fair and honest competition." RCW 19.86.920. In the instant case, the trial court and the Court of Appeals erred by expanding the coverage of the CPA to cover claims where no economic relationship exists between the parties. Accordingly, the appellate decision is in conflict with the express statutory provisions of the CPA, case law and is a matter of great public importance. Indeed, there are few reported cases from the Supreme Court that define the boundaries of the Act's applicability and this Court should take the opportunity to provide guidance on the Act's extent.

Notably, the lower courts' reliance on *Stephens* ignored the salient factual distinction of *Stephens* that there the defendant insurance company was attempting to collect repayment from the plaintiff for an insurance payment the insurance company had made to a third party. In other words, in *Stephens*, the defendant was attempting to collect a debt allegedly owed to it by plaintiff. *Stephens*, 159 P.3d 10, 14. Accordingly, there, unlike here, the complained of conduct -- the illegitimate and deceptive attempt to collect reimbursement for an insurance payout -- is clearly a commercial activity. To the contrary, in the present case, Respondents did not have any commercial relationship with Petitioners, nor did Respondents have any commercial relationship with Dialing Services.

Rather, the motivation, substance and content of the robocall was entirely political. The only commercial activity here was Petitioners'

contracting with an out-of-state vendor, Dialing Services. In essence,

were the decisions below are left to stand, any service or product procured

in the market that is subsequently used for deception -- even in an entirely

non-economic realm -- would be actionable under the CPA. Indeed, it

would be difficult to imagine any circumstance where a deception is

perpetrated without some instrumentality of commerce being utilized.

Were the lower court's decision left undisturbed, all sorts of causes of

action sounding in the CPA could be asserted in the realms of politics,

romance, neighborly disputes, academics and others, regardless of the

clear language and intent of the CPA.

F. Conclusion

This Court should accept review and reverse the appellate Court's

determination that the CPA applies to the facts of this case. The Court

should further reverse the award of attorney's fees associated with the

CPA claim and remand matter to the trial court for further proceedings.