FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/21/2020 1:08 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98927-3 Court of Appeals No. 53373-1-II

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

PHYLLIS FARRELL, an individual; BRANDY KNIGHT, an individual; DEBRA JAQUA, an individual; LONI JEAN RONNENBAUM, an individual; SARAH SEGALL, an individual,

Respondents,

v.

FRIENDS OF JIMMY, a registered political committee; WE WANT TO BE FRIENDS OF JIMMY, TOO, a registered political committee; GLEN MORGAN and JANE DOE MORGAN, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals applied well-settled precedent to a "narrow" question: whether unlawful "robocalls"—initiated through a commercial robocalling service—meet the trade or commerce element of a Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claim. Affirming that they do, the unanimous court followed this Court's longstanding rejection of the argument that the CPA requires a commercial relationship between plaintiff and defendant.

Far from a matter of first impression, this Court has unequivocally held that "[n]othing in [the CPA] requires that the plaintiff must be a consumer or in a business relationship with the actor." *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 39, 204 P.3d 885 (2009). Indeed, nothing in the CPA's plain language "suggests any particular required relationship with the *plaintiff.*" *Id.* at 45 (emphasis in *Panag*).

Nonetheless, Petitioner Glen Morgan and his affiliates maintain that "the Court of Appeals erred by expanding the coverage of the CPA to cover claims where no economic relationship exists between the parties." Pet. at 9. There can be no CPA violation, they say, because the robocall recipients "did not have any commercial relationship with Petitioners[.]" *Id.* This is simply not the law.

Morgan fails to meet any of the standards for obtaining Supreme Court review. While he makes a singular reference to "RAP 13.4," he does not articulate a conflict with a decision of this Court, of which he cites just one. Nor does he identify conflicting Court of Appeals decisions (again, he cites just one). Nothing is of constitutional magnitude. And the conclusory assertion of "great public importance," fails to establish circumstances worthy of Supreme Court review.

The supposed expansion of the CPA is pure fiction—advocated by no one, unsupported by the record, and finding no traction in the unpublished opinion. But even if the Court of Appeals had done any more than apply established law to analogous facts (and that is all it did), Morgan failed to preserve his new contentions and cannot seek to overturn the trial court based on arguments he did not make below.

Discretionary review should be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF CASE

The Statement of the Case in the Petition is taken nearly verbatim from the Brief of Appellants. Respondents (collectively, "Farrell") therefore refer to their prior Statement of the Case and the Court of Appeals' factual recitation. Br. of Resps. at 3–8; Op. at 1–2.

Of note, both the trial court and Court of Appeals' decisions turned on this Court's controlling opinion in *Panag. See* Br. of Resps. at 15; Op. at 4–5. Yet Morgan never addressed *Panag* in the trial court—and certainly never argued that it was wrongly decided. *See* CP 244–47, 390–93. Nor did he mention it in his opening appellate brief. *See* Br. of Apps. at ii (Table of Authorities). Rather, Morgan's first discussion of *Panag* was presented untimely in his appellate reply brief. Reply Br. of Apps. at 2. Consistent

with that pattern, the Petition does not even cite *Panag*, the controlling authority for which Morgan now seeks "guidance."

III. ARGUMENT

A. None of the requirements for obtaining discretionary review under RAP 13.4 are established.

This Court only accepts review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review if that decision fits within one of four criteria under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(4). Yet most of the Petition merely aims to convince that the Court of Appeals misapplied one CPA case. *See* Pet. at 9. While that is just not so, "RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances" as this Court "is not operating as a court of error[.]" Wash. State Bar Ass'n, APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK § 18.2(5) at 18-7 (4th ed. 2016) (herein, "APPELLATE DESKBOOK"). None of the criteria for review are satisfied.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision applies—rather than conflicts with—a Supreme Court decision.

The Petition fails to explain how the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with any decision of this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). Indeed, the Petition cites just one Supreme Court opinion, *Michael v. Mosquera–Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595, 200 P.3d 685 (2009), and only to state the elements of a CPA claim. Pet. at 8.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's decision in *Panag* (decided after *Michael*) for the reasons in the unpublished opinion and the Brief of Respondents. Of particular note, this

Court rejected the same argument advanced by Morgan, stating: "There is no merit to [defendant's] assertions that the CPA's purpose is to provide heightened protection only for individuals involved in certain 'protective relationships[,]" that is, "only those individuals who enter into a consensual transaction for goods or services[.]" *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 40.

2. There is no conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Petition fails to explain how the unpublished opinion conflicts with another Court of Appeals decision. See RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Court is not called upon to resolve a split among the divisions of the Court of Appeals. See, e.g., Thompson v. Hanson, 168 Wn.2d 738, 742, 239 P.3d 537 (2009) ("We accepted review . . . to resolve a split between Divisions One and Three"). Inasmuch as Morgan claims a "conflict" with Stephens v. Omni Ins. Co., 138 Wn. App. 151, 159 P.3d 10 (2007), aff'd sub nom., Panag, 166 Wn.2d 27 (2009), the unpublished opinion is consistent for the reasons therein and the Brief of Respondents. And while Morgan's contention that the court misapplied Stephens is wrong, such would not warrant discretionary review, regardless.

3. No constitutional issue is presented.

The Petition makes no reference to constitutional concerns. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3). While Morgan alludes to his political motivations, both lower courts and Farrell herself made clear that the content of the robocalls have no bearing. *See* Br. of Resps. at 6–7 n.6. The main thrust of Morgan's argument below—that there is a "political speech" exception to the

CPA—was rightly abandoned on appeal. *Compare* CP 244–47, 385–96 *with* Br. of Apps. at 1.

4. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that its decision is not of general (let alone substantial) public interest.

There being no other grounds for review, Morgan necessarily relies on RAP 13.4(b)(4)'s "substantial public interest" factor. But he comes nowhere near this high bar. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (published Court of Appeals decision had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001"); *In re Pers. Restraint of Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 1092, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) ("likely incorrect" published Court of Appeals decision could "affect public safety by removing an entire class sex offenders from . . . registration requirements").

At the outset, the Court of Appeals determined that its decision was not "of general public interest or importance" when it decided not to publish. RAP 12.3(d). Neither Morgan nor anyone else sought publication. *See* RAP 12.3(e). Accordingly, the opinion "has no precedential value" and is "not binding upon any court" (there being plenty of other cases supporting the same propositions). GR 14.1(a).

Consistent with those facts, Morgan points to no pending or anticipated litigation that will be impacted in any way by even the persuasive weight of the unpublished opinion. Farrell is not aware of any. And there seems to be no groundswell of public support for increasing the number of robocalls people receive.

The claim that there are "few reported cases from the Supreme Court" applying the CPA is unsupported and incorrect. Pet. at 9. Per Westlaw, there are at least 89 Supreme Court opinions that cite RCW 19.86.010 (the definitions section of the CPA) and 97 Supreme Court opinions citing RCW 19.86.090 (the provision governing private CPA actions). As discussed, in *Panag* this Court expressly rejected the suggestion that there is any required relationship between a CPA plaintiff and defendant. 166 Wn.2d at 39–45. *Panag* has been cited by courts over 300 times—dozens of times for that very proposition.

With nothing in the record evidencing a substantial public interest, Morgan resorts to hypotheticals. But "[t]he Supreme Court does not issue advisory opinions or address issues in the abstract." APPELLATE

DESKBOOK, *supra*, § 18.2(5) at 18–8. Nonetheless, Morgan asserts, without analysis, that "the CPA *could* be asserted in the realms of politics, romance, neighborly disputes, academics, and others" Pet. at 10 (emphasis added). But no one need fear the legitimization of CPA suits by lovers scorned, or anyone else who cannot satisfy the *five* elements of a CPA claim.

To run with that example, a telegram of sweet nothings (even exaggerated ones) would not be cognizable as "unfair or deceptive" within the meaning of CPA element one. *E.g.*, *Panag*, 166 Wn.2d at 51 (conduct is "unfair," for example, where it "offends public policy" or "the common law"); *Rush v. Blackburn*, 190 Wn. App. 945, 963, 361 P.3d 217 (2015) ("The question is whether the conduct has the capacity to deceive a

substantial portion of the public."). Nor would it impact the public interest, CPA element three. *E.g.*, RCW 19.86.093. And any heartbreak sustained by the recipient would not constitute an injury to business or property, CPA element five. *E.g.*, *Trujillo v. Nw. Trustee Servs.*, *Inc.*, 183 Wn.2d 820, 837, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) ("emotional distress, embarrassment, and inconvenience are not compensable injuries under the CPA"). Here, in contrast, the robocalls undisputedly violated federal law, impacted thousands of Washingtonians, and interfered with the use and enjoyment of their phones.

Had Morgan played out any of his other hypotheticals, they would find the same fate. That is, undoubtedly, why Supreme Court review is limited to *actual* matters of substantial public interest rather than concoctions that "could" (but will not really) come to pass.

B. Morgan failed to preserve the issues for which he seeks review.

While Morgan fails to establish any basis for review, he did not, in any event, preserve the issues he now asks this Court to address. He has failed to "assure[] that a routine procedural . . . issue will not be dispositive of the case." APPELLATE DESKBOOK, *supra*, § 18.2(5) at 18–8.

It is axiomatic that an appellate court reviewing summary judgment engages in the same analysis as the trial court. RAP 9.12; *see also* Br. of Resps. at 18–20. Likewise, arguments presented for the first time in an appellate reply brief are not considered. *E.g.*, *Ainsworth v. Progressive*

Cas. Ins. Co., 180 Wn. App. 52, 78 n. 20, 322 P.3d 6 (2014). These principles control here.

First, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Morgan failed to preserve his challenge to the CPA's injury element. Op. at 7–8; *see also* Br. of Resps. at 18–22. While Morgan assigns error to that issue, the Petition offers no explanation why the Court of Appeals should have considered a question that Morgan previously conceded in the trial court.

Second, without mentioning *Panag* by name, Morgan asks this Court to overturn its holding that there is not "any particular required relationship with the *plaintiff*," 166 Wn.2d at 45 (emphasis in *Panag*), and instead hold that the CPA requires that an "economic relationship exists between the parties." Pet. at 9. But as noted, Morgan never addressed *Panag* (or *Stephens*) in the trial court, even though they were central to the argument and ruling. His *only* reference to either case in the trial court came in a parenthetical in a motion for reconsideration, for an unrelated proposition, stating only that "[t]his case was incorrectly used by Plaintiff in oral arguments." CP 393. Morgan's first substantive discussion of *Panag* came in an appellate *reply* brief, two years after the trial court granted summary judgment against him.

It follows that Morgan never made any argument below why *Panag* does not control and cannot now ask this Court to hold that *Panag* does

¹ Morgan inaccurately states that the Court of Appeals "conclu[ded] that Respondents' [sic] were injured in their 'business or property'" Pet. at 1. But the court simply did not reach the issue as "Morgan never disputed the injury element of Farrell's CPA claim in the trial court." Op. at 7.

not. This Court cannot conclude that the trial court erred by failing to accept arguments that Morgan never made. It is yet another reason why discretionary review should be denied.

C. Fees and expenses.

The Court of Appeals awarded fees and expenses to Farrell as required under the CPA. Op. at 8 (citing RCW 19.86.090; *Svendsen v. Stock*, 143 Wn.2d 546, 560, 23 P.3d 455 (2001)). Farrell requests an award of fees and expenses under RAP 18.1(j) for answering the Petition.

IV. CONCLUSION

Morgan fails to establish any basis for obtaining discretionary review because there is none. Farrell respectfully requests that the Court deny review and award fees and expenses.